

IGL Working Paper Series

Developing policies to promote SME digital adoption: a rapid evidence review

James Phipps and Rob Fuller

November 2022

IGL Working Paper No. 22/01

The IGL Working Paper Series is intended to make available early results of research undertaken or supported by Nesta, its partners, or members of the IGL Research Network in order to elicit comments and suggestions for revisions and to encourage discussion and further debate prior to publication. © Year 2021 by the author(s). Short sections of text, tables and figures may be reproduced without explicit permission provided that full credit is given to the source. The views expressed in this working paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of Nesta.

IGLWorking Paper No. 22/01

November 2022

Developing policies to promote SME digital adoption: a rapid evidence review

James Phipps Innovation Growth Lab James.Phipps@nesta.org.uk Rob Fuller Innovation Growth Lab Rob.Fuller@nesta.org.uk

ABSTRACT

This report is intended to support public officials developing new policies to foster technology adoption by SMEs and to encourage digital transformation. It presents results from a rapid evidence review to identify policy-relevant findings from experimental research into the effectiveness of different policy approaches. It also outlines other ideas that are currently being tested, the challenges that have been faced during implementation, and suggestions for how to approach policy development. The main objective of this report is to provide a basis for generating new ideas on how to design and deliver effective interventions.

Keywords: technology adoption, digital transformation, small and medium-sized enterprises, evidence synthesis.

This research was supported by the Inter-American Development Bank. The contents of this publication are solely the responsibility of the authors.

Developing policies to promote SME digital adoption :

A rapid evidence review

Innovation Growth Lab

November 2022







Authors

This report has been prepared by James Phipps and Rob Fuller

About the Innovation Growth Lab

The Innovation Growth Lab (IGL) is a global initiative that works to increase the impact of innovation and growth policy, by ensuring that it is informed by new ideas and robust evidence. IGL works at the intersection of research and policy, where it helps organisations become more experimental, test ideas, and learn from each other.

To find out more please visit <u>www.innovationgrowthlab.org</u>

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Inter-American Development Bank and is published under the responsibility of the Innovation Growth Lab at Nesta. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of the Member countries of the Inter-American Development Bank and its Board of Directors.





Contents

Introduction	4
Summary	4
Approach	5
Problem: What causes slow adoption?	6
Potential policy measures: What can be done?	11
Evidence on the effectiveness of interventions	13
Can government interventions drive adoption by influencing the incentives created by market demand?	13
Can improving access to infrastructure encourage technology adoption?	14
Can we use campaigns and online information to drive awareness and promote the benefits of technology?	14
What are the benefits of developing online resources through structured learning?	15
Will the offer of online tools or expert advice help SMEs to diagnose their needs and motivate them to act?	16
Should you consider subsidising the costs of the technologies that are to be adopted?	17
Is there potential to realising digital tech adoption by getting SMEs to engage with external support?	19
To what extent should the costs of adoption be subsidised? (How should business support be priced?)	20
Is training a way to encourage basic users of digital technologies to progress towards the frontier?	20
Are there innovative ways to address a lack of capacity/time amongst SMEs?	21
Can interventions be made more effective by involving peers in the development or implementation?	22
Would training on effective decision-making help SMEs determine if and how best to use digital technology?	
How to support digitisation and technology adoption within the agriculture sector?	25
Is adoption held back by individual characteristics and traits that training could address?	25
Reflections on policy approaches and challenges	26
Policy development and approaches	29
Experimental approach	29
Design approach and segmentation	31
Annex A: Summary of Studies	32
Evidence reviews	33
UK policy experimentation: Business Basics Programme	35
Bibliography	39



Introduction

This report is intended to support public officials developing new policies to foster technology adoption by SMEs and to encourage digital transformation. It presents results from a rapid evidence review to identify policy-relevant findings from experimental research into the effectiveness of different policy approaches. It also outlines other ideas that are currently being tested, the challenges that have been faced during implementation, and suggestions for how to approach policy development. The main objective of this report is to provide a basis for generating new ideas on how to design and deliver effective interventions.

Summary

Technology adoption and digital transformation are critical drivers of economic growth. However, concerns that small businesses are often slow to adopt them and progress¹ are longstanding, widely accepted and well evidenced. This has resulted in substantial and widespread investment in public interventions to promote technology adoption amongst SMEs.

Despite the wider interest to promote digital transformation, it is difficult to identify what interventions are most effective, in what contexts and for whom. This is the result of a number of factors:

- **Complex barriers**: Successful adoption depends on a wide range of events and decisions and the barriers encountered by a particular business will depend on complex and changing factors.
- **Difficult to identify true lost potential**: Policymakers and those they work with to deliver support will face their own barriers in determining, like the SMEs and technology suppliers whose behaviours they want to change, also face difficulty identifying when low adoption is truly suboptimal. Not all firms will benefit from a given technology. A firm's lack of adoption and progression might be a rational response to the specific context, costs and benefits facing the individual firm.
- Lack of credible evaluation: The vast majority of policy interventions are not evaluated rigorously against a credible counterfactual, with many not being evaluated at all.
- Large gaps in the evidence picture: The insights provided by experimental research are spread across a broad canvas of possible policy levers and contexts,

¹ For example, a retailer first adopting digital technology to accept online orders before moving towards a business model based around using data to make customer recommendations and predict consumer trends.



which highly influence the results and are not always generalisable. This leaves vast gaps in knowledge.²

Nevertheless, interventions can be successful. In this report we highlight credible findings of impacts from a wide range of policy measures, from shaping market demand and infrastructure to the provision of tailored support for individual businesses.

But not all interventions are found to work. There are many cases in which evaluations have found disappointing results. This can be for a variety of reasons, and on occasion includes a failure in the evaluation itself. A common reason why a policy fails to deliver its expected impact is that the barriers to adoption prove to be more substantial or pervasive than anticipated, leading to issues such as a difficulty to recruit businesses or lack of progression across the different stages of the adoption process.

To avoid these issues, this report looks at the importance of developing a clear understanding of the problem and how some public officials have applied a design approach to understand user needs. Also discussed are the benefits of adopting an experimental approach, helping to identify and respond to challenges and ultimately to develop more robust evidence to inform future decision making.

Approach

In producing this paper we have examined:

- Existing evidence reviews:
 - Alfaro-Serrano et al (2021) "<u>Interventions to promote technology adoption</u> in firms: A systematic review"
 - McKenzie et al (2021) "<u>Training Entrepreneurs</u>"
 - Wu and Broughton (2019) "<u>Business Basics: Nudging firms to improve</u> productivity"
 - What Works Centre for Local Economic Growth (2016) "Evidence Review: <u>Business Advice</u>"
 - Owalla et al (2021) "<u>Mapping SME productivity research: a systematic</u> review of empirical evidence and future research agenda"
- Additional academic papers found within the <u>IGL Trials Database</u> and from our research network

² For instance, one common policy approach is to use marketing campaigns and create online resources to raise general awareness, but it is important to note that these approaches are by their nature hard to robustly evaluate.



- <u>Findings</u> from the <u>UK Business Basics Programme</u> and the <u>European</u> <u>Commission's programme</u> supporting tests with new SME support programmes
- Selected examples of how policymakers across the world have approached this challenge

The approach applied for this report has some limitations. We have focused on evidence and examples related to policy interventions that promote the adoption of technologies. We have not sought to assess the types of digital technologies that could be adopted by SMEs,³ nor do we estimate the potential benefits for individual businesses or the wider economy. We have also not considered what drives the invention of new technology nor made a broader assessment of the factors that drive diffusion.

Problem: What causes slow adoption?

Barriers to adoption can occur within the business, in the markets where they buy and sell, and from overarching factors such as poor regulation and infrastructure.

Using a similar approach to <u>Verhoogen (2021)</u>, we divide the potential barriers into three categories based on where they occur in relation to an individual business. We add an overarching set of factors that shape the general business environment.

Input markets	Within the business	Output markets
 Lack of necessary skills amongst potential employees 	 Awareness and ability to find information about what technologies 	 Customers are not demanding the use of new technologies
Technology suppliers face costs finding SMEs who	are availableAbility to identify	 Weak market competition
would benefit	own needs	• Shielded from competitors that are
 Technologies developed for larger businesses with additional costs to 	 Absorptive capacity: the ability to process and apply new 	using new technology (eg export restrictions)
adapt to SME needs	information to improve outcomes	 Regulations restrict the delivery of

³ One example for this assessment is the Firm-level Adoption of Technology survey used in Brazil <u>(Ciera et al 2021)</u>.



	1	
 The minimum viable size for the profitable use of a given technology is beyond the reach of many SMEs⁴ 	 Uncertainty about the benefits and therefore unwillingness to cover the costs 	goods and services that apply new technologies
 Limited finance to cover the costs of adoption 	 A reluctance to seek or pay for, or lack of trust in, external advice and support 	
 Potential benefits are over-sold by suppliers, leading to lack of confidence on the part of potential adopters 	 Availability of complementary assets: workforce skills, tangible assets (eg computing equipment) and intangible assets (eg customer data) 	
	• Business objectives: eg not ran as profit maximisers and potential benefits are overlooked as deemed incompatible with leaders' objectives or social mission	

Environment

- Limited infrastructure eg lack of connectivity
- Lack of common standards that can make it difficult for technologies to connect and raise concerns about being tied to one supplier losing independence and flexibility
- Regulation that shapes market operations eg data privacy, infrastructure, overseas trade and intellectual property.

⁴ This is not a market failure in itself, but could stem from business model failures on the part of the vendor (eg knowledge of how to segment customers) or could represent a coordination failure or unrealised market (eg SMEs could pool resources and share costs of technology).



Ideally we would identify a specific barrier, develop and deliver a targeted solution that unlocks latent demand for a given technology amongst the target population

Barrier	Solution	Output		Short-term outcomes		Long-term outcomes
Lack of awareness	Provide information	SMEs access information	\rightarrow	SMEs adopt technology	\rightarrow	Improve business growth and productivity
				Successful implementation		, ,
				within their business model		

However, in reality the challenge facing policymakers is much more complicated: Firstly, adoption is a process that requires progression through a series of stages...

In order to adopt a new technology, an SME will need to progress through a number of different stages. For instance, those furthest from adoption will not yet be aware that the technology is available to them. Once they are aware they would then progress through seeking information; taking a decision to adopt; embedding the technology into their operations and determining if they wish to continue its use. Finally, they may emerge as more informed and equipped for further technological improvements. The following is how this process was conceptualised by IGL and the UK Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) for the Business Basics Programme.



Source: BEIS, developed from Rogers (1995)



Secondly, the diversity of both the business population and technology applications creates huge complexity in when and how barriers will be encountered...

The categorisation "small and medium-sized enterprise" covers a very broad range of organisations and potential applications for technology. Needs and requirements will vary significantly across different industries and market segments. For instance, an SME could be led by someone in pursuit of growth and profit maximisation or as a way to maintain a chosen lifestyle. The operational structure, decision-making processes and resources available in a micro- enterprise with one decision maker will be very different to a business with 240 employees over multiple locations. Whilst even the same organisation could face very different barriers when it comes to adopting one technology compared to another – switching to cloud accounting software will require a very different set of skills and employee involvement to introducing robots into production processes.

Thirdly, progression is the result of decisions taken by individuals within the business, and their choices will be influenced by their own traits, behaviours and ambitions.

If we consider that adoption occurs as a result of a series of decisions and judgements made by individuals, then the importance of considering behavioural factors becomes clearer. The Behavioural Insights Team undertook a review of the behavioural factors that could be used for "nudging firms to improve productivity" <u>(Wu and Broughton 2019)</u>. They outline a number of behavioural barriers that will affect whether an SME will adopt proven management practices and technologies. These include:

- **Overconfidence** about how they compare with others.
- **Expectation errors:** mistakes in how they assess potential costs and benefits. These can include **present bias**, placing too little emphasis on future or uncertain gains.
- Mindsets unconducive to growth: Low ambition and harmful beliefs. Other research has looked at how mindsets are shaped and may result in people not associating themselves with running a growth-orientated or technological driven business (Theodorakopoulos et al 2015).
- **Scarce mental resources**: Complex decision making based on imperfect information with limited time to process.
- Loss aversion: Overweighting the risks of the costs and likelihood of innovations failing to prove effective.
- **Groupthink**: A desire to conform and maintain harmony may lead to a reluctance to challenge judgements and implement organisational change.

The review also identifies a number of "enablers" that can support positive change. For example, it is important to recognise the importance of moments of change: an SME can



be more responsive (or reluctant) to change at some points, such as a change of leadership or a new market entrant. Other enablers such as peers and networks could also provide exposure to new ideas and sources of positive encouragement and support.

Finally, as an SME progresses through the stages of adoption, new barriers can occur, which may not have been identified until that point.

Research in the UK by Be the Business and McKinsey (Be the Business 2020) looked at the barriers SMEs face during different stages of adoption. They find that it can often be a long and painful process. Particular pain points occur with finding the right solution, knowing how to integrate a chosen solution, and efforts to progress further being hampered by the disruption that would be caused by switching to another provider. Of the SMEs that were interviewed, the majority had made previous unsuccessful attempts to adopt technology – with adoption failing for a wide variety of reasons.



Potential policy measures: What can be done?

A broad range of measures can be applied, with numerous decisions for how to combine, design and implement support

Potential policy measures that can be used to encourage technology adoption

Market shaping and creating	Demand: Government procurement and wider support
	Tax systems: Treatment of investments in technology
	Coordination: Bringing together large organisations
	Regulation: Setting standards (eg data protection)
	Competition: Actions to protect or expose laggards to more productive rivals
	Funding to technology suppliers to create incentives for the development of products that will better meet the need of targeted SMEs
Infrastructure and institutions	Investments to increase the availability and access to technologies
	Creation of institutions to coordinate investments and knowledge sharing (eg business to business and/or research to business)
Workforce skills	Develop skills of current and future employees.
	Develop skills of current and future employees
	Subsidise employee training
	Offer advice on how to obtain external expertise
Non-financial business support	Openly available: Eg information on websites, campaigns to raise awareness and encourage action
	Directed at individual businesses: Eg the provision of consultancy advice, in-person or group training
Financial Support	Targeted subsidies (eg vouchers) for the procurement of technology
	Targeted subsidies for businesses to seek external support to identify and successfully implement new technology
	Provision of investment capital (loans, mezzanine or venture capital)



What does this mean for policymakers?

Policymakers should diagnose their own challenge in as much detail as possible, using existing data or any available resources, otherwise the intervention proposed may not fit the real needs of the businesses. For instance, managers often assume that there is a simple problem of an information gap. However, as we have seen, there are other complex barriers, and providing information on the types of technology available will not work if SMEs already have this information and are instead uncertain about the costs and benefits for their own operations. Sometimes policies may still work even if we get the diagnosis incorrect but the solution may not be the most cost effective. For instance, marketing a funding programme will also raise awareness of the technology, but it is possible that the marketing by itself is sufficient to encourage adoption.

Trying to address all potential barriers through a "one-stop shop" package of measures, if even possible given resource constraints, may not be cost-effective (there may be an oversupply of support), and may be too difficult for targeted SMEs to understand and navigate.

Once the problem has been identified, it is crucial to consider the "theory of change" that would explain how the activities to be undertaken through a given policy measure are understood to produce a series of results that contribute to achieving the final intended impacts. A logic model can be developed from a theory of change, setting out the causal roadmap by which policy objectives will be achieved, connecting inputs to activities, outputs and outcomes.

In the following section, we have summarised evidence on a wide range of interventions to encourage SME technology adoption. It is important to consider why it worked (or did not work) as this will allow policymakers to better predict whether a similar approach will work in their own context. It is also important to remember that approaches that proved successful in one context may not achieve the same impact in another. For example, funding programmes are likely to be more effective in areas where credit constraints are more binding due to underdeveloped financial systems or where the supported SMEs lack collateral.



Evidence on the effectiveness of interventions

This section examines evidence of the effectiveness of different approaches to promote SME technology adoption. We have focused on research that provides a credible basis for assessing the additionality of support, primarily involving the application of randomised controlled trials (RCTs). Unfortunately, only a few examples directly consider the question of digital technologies and business models. We therefore broadened this to include research assessing impacts on SMEs' adoption of other technologies and management practices. To illustrate what other approaches could be applied, we have also included descriptions of a number of ongoing trials and interesting policy examples.

Can government interventions drive adoption by influencing the incentives created by market demand?

The public sector can have a substantial impact on how markets operate through the way that it delivers and procures services. Can this market power be harnessed to encourage technology adoption?

<u>Higgins (2020)</u> examines the impact of the Mexican government's rollout of one million debit cards to poor households from 2009 to 2012, which significantly increased the number of customers demanding non-cash purchasing options. This government-induced change in the output market led to many SMEs adopting POS terminals. These businesses were then able to increase their sales and profits, by continuing to meet demand from poor households while also increasing their sales to wealthier customers.

It is also possible that governments can influence technology adoption through innovations and requirements in how they directly interact with SMEs. For example, the UK government's drive towards "<u>making tax digital</u>" is expected to push many SMEs to adopt digital accounting systems, helping them to improve cash flow, improve financial information and save time that can be used elsewhere. However, these impacts are yet to be proven.

By helping to establish common standards, as discussed in <u>Blind (2013)</u>, public policy can aid the development and diffusion of technologies. One way this is achieved is by reducing uncertainty and risks that different technologies will be compatible. This could be important for SMEs looking to adopt digital technologies: as previously mentioned, <u>Be the Business (2021)</u> found that switching providers was a key cause of concern for SMEs. However, we have not identified any specific studies that directly test the impact on SME adoption from establishing technological standards.



Can improving access to infrastructure encourage technology adoption?

The public sector can play a key role in determining the speed and location of infrastructure investments, including communications and broadband access. Several studies (Fabling and Grimes 2021, DeStefano et al 2018, DeStefano et al 2019) have shown how broadband improvements can lead to digital adoption and productivity gains for SMEs who benefit from connectivity improvements.

Policy measures can also be taken to facilitate smaller businesses' access to technologies that would be beyond their individual means, by overcoming barriers to coordination and investment. For example, the <u>UK network of catapult centres</u>, including a Digital Catapult, provide <u>SMEs</u> with access to facilities such as laboratories, testbeds and factories, as well as technical expertise. However, we are not aware of any robust estimates of how this activity affects technology adoption amongst individual businesses.

Can we use campaigns and online information to drive awareness and promote the benefits of technology?

Two potential causes of slow adoption are a lack of awareness about technologies and a difficulty finding information about the options available. A common policy approach is therefore to undertake marketing campaigns and provide basic information through websites and online training, sometimes working in partnership with technology suppliers. These can be characterised as "public good" interventions in that the results of the campaign and online information provided is open to everyone, regardless of how many come forward.

Although this approach is widely used there is limited evidence of its effectiveness, at least in part because these approaches are by their nature very difficult to evaluate.⁵

One possibility is to test whether information can deliver benefits, if SMEs are encouraged to use it. A trial funded through the <u>Business Basics Programme</u> will be based on an <u>online resource for SMEs seeking information and advice on digital</u> <u>adoption</u>. The results will examine the impact of providing and encouraging SMEs to access the resource, and the additional benefits from supporting this with encouragement from a trusted contact.

⁵ One approach might be to combine a randomised encouragement design RCT with the data approaches discussed in <u>Ruiz and McKenzie (2017)</u>.



Intuitively, there may seem to be straightforward benefits from providing access to information. However, there are concerns that providing too much information and at the wrong times could deliver outcomes counter to policy objectives. For instance, <u>Breinlich et al (2017</u>), conducted a trial in which a sample of SMEs were provided with information from the UK's export promotion agency on the benefits and costs of exporting. The impact they observed for those already exporting was as one might expect, an improvement in attitudes towards exporting and sales. In contrast, non-exporters became more negative about the benefits of exporting and pessimistic about the barriers, which fed through to lower sales. One explanation for this is that the information made exporting appear too complicated, that they avoided opportunities to export when they arose. Perhaps the situation would have been better had it been possible to time the provision of information after such opportunities had arisen.

Wu and Broughton (2019) discuss the potential behavioural barriers and enablers across the adoption process. Broughton et al (2019) provide further ideas for how policy makers can utilise behavioural insights to improve take-up and engagement amongst firms, following the "EAST" framework, providing cues that are easy, attractive, social and timely. For policymakers these can lead to simple experiments that ease programme delivery and create the foundations for <u>further and more substantial experimentation</u>.

In a recent experiment, <u>Kneller et al (2022)</u>, apply a low cost intervention to provide businesses with information on how the performance of their website compares to their peers with significant success according to the emerging findings. Within a month there was evidence that those who received the information were more likely to have implemented changes that improved their website performance. One factor that made this "call to action" effective may have been how salient the information was, being based on direct observations of technology for the individual business, rather than on generic messages. New data sources and methods could make this approach more widely applicable.

What are the benefits of developing online resources through structured learning?

Online platforms provide a highly scalable way of delivering a structured training program. Projects carried out under the UK Business Basics Programme have used self-guided online programmes for delivering training on topics ranging from cyber security to career coaching for employees (Lucy et al 2019). These projects have had mixed experiences with participation and completion rates: many have seen only modest numbers beginning the programme and rapid drop-off in participation after the first session or first module. This may be partly due to weaknesses in the course material or the delivery platforms, and it is likely that some participants sign up to assess what is



available without having made a definite decision to complete the whole programme. Even among participants who intend to complete the training, if there are no time constraints on when they follow the training, this may tend to be perpetually deprioritised. In contrast, a scheduled meeting or online session with a facilitator and/or other participants involves making a social commitment to attend, which is less likely to be deferred or cancelled when conflicting priorities arise.

One Business Basics project which had more success in this respect was an online self-guided programme for SME managers on <u>using coaching behaviours at work (Tinelli & Ashley-Timms 2022)</u>. The programme consisted of 20 modules, intended to be followed at one-week intervals. More than two thirds of participants completed the first four modules, and a third completed all 20 modules of the program. These comparatively high participation rates are probably explained by a combination of the participants seeing value in the training material and to it being delivered in an engaging way. It is also worth noting that, unusually for a trial of a business-support intervention, employers were asked to pay a fee for their managers to participate – something which may have led to participants being more committed to getting value from the program.

In any case, the economics of online training means that it may be cost-effective to make this kind of programme widely available even if participation and competition rates are low.

Will the offer of online tools or expert advice help SMEs to diagnose their needs and motivate them to act?

Several projects in the Business Basics Programme have piloted the use of diagnostic tools or benchmarking. These have generally been received positively by SMEs, and there is anecdotal evidence that this has led to an increase in openness to use digital technologies (e.g EDGE Digital Manufacturing Limited 2021, Food Forward Ltd 2020, Yagro Ltd 2020). However, we do not have experimental evidence on these interventions.

Sebrae in Brazil uses a substantial diagnostic questionnaire and follow-up report to encourage SMEs to sign up for consulting services. In a recent study, only 13% of SMEs were found to take up these services without further encouragement. However, the application of behavioural insights led to substantially higher take-up of up to 45%. The interventions tested involved converting the standard long reports into a more salient one-page benchmarking summary; identifying and setting out specific steps for improvement; highlighting the potential for business failure; and automatically enrolling businesses in the consulting services (Piza and Bruhn 2019).



As previously outlined, <u>Kneller et al (2022)</u> created benchmarks of website performance to provide information to SMEs on how they might improve their use of technology. Survey evidence suggested that the information provided some with knowledge about the potential for improvements and acted as a reminder for those that were already aware. Going forward the researchers intend to explore what sort of information is most effective and also the extent to which the information should be combined with additional support, such as business training.

The UK's Growth Vouchers Programme tested the use of a basic online diagnostic tool against offering businesses access to a personal advisor to help them diagnose and select their support needs. The programme offered a voucher to subsidise the use of strategic advice within five business areas, including how to make the most of digital technology. The thought was that time with a personal advisor may help businesses to better understand their needs for support and make it more likely they go on to procure and benefit from further advice. However, this intuition hadn't been tested and the provision of the personal advice carries much greater cost. Full results are still to be published but initial findings suggest that the personal diagnostic, whilst garnering more positive feedback on its helpfulness, had very little impact on the choices and outcomes (Adams et al 2016). Having to book a time slot with an advisor created a moment of friction and a barrier that many did not pass beyond. The online diagnostic was easier to complete, but those assigned to this treatment were then less likely to use the voucher once it was assigned.⁶ If this finding is confirmed, then one explanation is that the session with the personal advisor was too short to make a difference – for almost 40% it lasted less than 30 minutes, and there was found to be a positive correlation between length of the session and subsequent outcomes.

Should you consider subsidising the costs of the technologies that are to be adopted?

Even if someone is aware of the technologies that are available, they may remain uncertain or unable to gauge the full potential impacts on their business's profitability. The costs they will be considering go beyond the direct costs of applying a specific tool – such as the opportunity cost of the time required to embed the tool, the risk of unexpected problems, and the risk of being tied to a particular product or provider. It is also possible that the potential benefits may only become apparent once the technology is in use. Many technologies could therefore be considered as "experience goods", with businesses only being able to evaluate the costs and benefits to them once the system

⁶ That is, for both arms there was a similar proportion of uncommitted participants, so the difference in diagnostic method simply changed the point at which they dropped out from the programme.



has been adopted. In such circumstances it can be beneficial to subsidise at least the initial costs of adoption.

Tan (2009) analysed the impact of a range of SME support programmes in Chile using panel data for the period 1992–2006. One of the programmes considered, the Fondos de Asistencia Técnica, provided subsidies to SMEs to address problems in marketing, product design, production processes, information systems and pollution control. No data on technology adoption was available, but the programme was found to increase revenue and output by around 20%, and labour productivity by 16%.

<u>Chudnovsky et al (2006)</u> examined the impact of matching grants for large-scale innovation initiatives awarded to businesses in Argentina between 2001 and 2005. The grant size averaged approximately US\$104,000 in 2001.⁷ Quasi-experimental analysis suggests that the grants had their intended effect of increasing expenditure on innovation, but that there was little additionality: firms that were awarded grants did not devote more of their own funds to innovation than they would have done anyway. There was no evidence of an impact from the funding on sales or labour productivity at the firm level.

The projects under the UK Business Basics Programme that offered to subsidise the adoption of specific digital technologies met with little demand from SMEs. For example, Devon County Council offered rural microbusinesses a grant to offer a trial period with a new technology, but found that takeup was only 5%. However, this may have been partly because the application process was seen as complicated when compared to the size of the grant available (Burchell and Wallis 2021). The Greater London Authority provided SMEs with vouchers to subsidise the adoption of basic AI tools for their websites, but found that none of the vouchers were used. In this case, the lack of takeup is likely to be because businesses did not see the particular technologies on offer as suitable for their businesses (Riom et al 2022).

Is there potential to realise digital tech adoption by getting SMEs to engage with external support?

<u>Anderson and McKenzie (2021)</u> undertook an experiment to compare the effectiveness of different approaches to providing SMEs with support in finance, marketing and sales. They compared outcomes from four different approaches to providing support (training, consulting, and either insourcing or outsourcing expertise from a business service

⁷ The grants were smaller in dollar terms in subsequent years, due to the devaluation of the Argentine peso.



marketplace) against a control group.⁸ They found that facilitating access to expertise through the marketplace (whether they provide support from outside or inside the business) is more effective than training, and offers similar results to consulting but at half the cost. The researchers note that some of the strongest impacts were seen in the adoption of digital marketing, which was not a direct target of support but an apparent byproduct of getting businesses to work with external experts.

The UK's <u>Growth Vouchers Programme</u> provided a subsidy of up to £2000, giving businesses a 50% reduction in the cost of taking strategic advice across one of five business areas, including how to make the most of digital technology. Early findings indicate that those offered a voucher were more likely to say they had increased their skills in the six months after completing their application (41% compared to 12%) (Adams <u>et al 2016</u>). For those who had sought a voucher for advice on "making the most of digital technology", those offered a voucher were more likely to have taken steps to optimise the ability of customers to find their business through web searches and to explore the costs of new hardware and software. Differences in four other subcategories were not statistically significant, and there was also no evidence of impact on business performance. Publication of the full results is pending.

<u>Coville et al (2020)</u> are undertaking an experiment in Georgia to evaluate the impacts of a training programme designed to encourage SMEs to adopt broadband connections and support them (with training and consulting) to establish their online presence and how to export their goods and services. The researchers have used the baseline survey for research on the barriers and constraints to online participation by SMEs in Georgia (Apedo-Amah et al 2020), and we await findings from the policy experiment itself.

Other studies show benefits of engagement with external advice, but do not have a direct connection to digital technology. For example, <u>Bruhn et al (2018)</u> provided intensive consulting services to randomly-selected SMEs in Puebla, Mexico over a one-year period. The firms offered consulting saw increased productivity and profitability in the short term, and appear to have achieved a new growth trajectory: employment in these firms increased at a much faster rate than those in the control group over the subsequent five years. The actual channels through which these improvements occurred varied for each business.

Incorporating some form of business mentoring, facilitating access to someone who can establish a professional, development-oriented relationship with an experienced mentor, is one way to support small enterprise growth. Czibor (2019a, 2019b) outlines some of the evidence that links mentoring with improved business performance, as well as some

⁸ In the case of "insourcing", the subsidy was for human resources support to help the business recruit an appropriate specialist.



of the practical issues and design details of such programmes.

To what extent should the costs of adoption be subsidised? (How should business support be priced?)

As outlined above, there have been a number of experiments that have tested the impact of subsidising the costs of technology adoption or the use of support. However, there has been less research into the extent to which costs should be covered and how subsidies should be structured. Offering too high a subsidy may maximise initial adoption but could also harm the cost-effectiveness of the intervention through poor selection (since SMEs that will only marginally benefit will access the support) and poor commitment (since without any financial commitment they may not dedicate the necessary time and resources to the programme).

Maffioli et al (2019, 2020) conducted an experiment on the impact of setting different prices for the provision of business training in Jamaica. They find that the majority would pay something towards the advice they will receive, but setting higher prices can have a dramatic effect on which businesses take part. Higher prices screen out less wealthy owners, the more risk-averse business owners, and those who expect the fewest benefits. Charging more than a nominal fee does cause those who buy the course to attend more of the classes.

Is training a way to encourage basic users of digital technologies to progress towards the frontier?

As already established, adoption is not achieved through a single step or by overcoming a single barrier. One concern is that having adopted, many SMEs will fail to make full use of the technology and progress towards the potential frontier.

Jin and Sun (2021) developed a business training programme available to new entrants on a large e-commerce platform in China, and randomised which sellers would have access. Although only a minority took up this offer (24% began at least one of the training tasks, and 13% completed at least one task), those that did were able to attract more visitors to their sites. This led to them increasing their revenues by around 7% overall. Consumers also benefited, since the training made it easier for them to find promising new sellers on the platform.

<u>Azzolini (2021)</u> describes the results of an RCT carried out across seven European countries, in which SMEs that provide products or services with a digital interface were introduced to design thinking. In the course of intensive, week-long "design sprints" (which were carried out fully online, during the COVID-19 pandemic), the SMEs worked



together with teams of design professionals, students and recent graduates, to develop and test approaches to improving the user experience of one of their products. This intervention led to an increase in SME participants' knowledge and "know-how" about the design sprint process, and possibly (though less clearly) to more positive attitudes towards design thinking. However, the sample size is too limited to establish whether participants were more likely than the control group to apply design thinking in the future.

Are there innovative ways to address a lack of capacity/time amongst SMEs?

Providing or encouraging SMEs to make use of experienced or professional experts is not the only approach to building a business's capacity to adopt new technologies and practices.

One approach that we have now seen across several programmes is to use students to help build the capacity and commitment to change within SMEs.

<u>Anderson et al (2021)</u> tasked university students with supporting small retail businesses in Mexico City with modernising their business processes or marketing, with sizable positive impacts on turnover.

Canada's new Digital Adoption Program (launched in 2022) plans to support up to 160,000 SMEs with interventions including funding and advice. This includes micro-grants to help SMEs with the costs of adoption but also to provide them with additional capacity by also creating training and work opportunities for up to 28,000 young people.

Two projects within the Business Basics Programme have also been testing the benefits for SME tech adoption of interventions that included students working with SMEs on projects to assess the potential impact of new technologies. <u>Coates and Cottam (2019)</u> present results from a pilot project in which groups of university students worked for several weeks on a specific project with a particular SME. The Techknowledgey Transfer project (for which results are not yet published) applied a similar concept, arranging placements within SMEs for further education students (that is, those in post-16 but non-university education).

The solutions may deliver further benefits, if they can encourage SMEs to collaborate more closely with education and research institutions and equip students with beneficial experiences.



Instead of creating additional capacity within the supported businesses, policy measures could be taken to reduce the burden or transfer it to outside the business.

Technology providers do not always make their products accessible to busy business owners, which may create an important supply-side barrier to adoption. In Kenya, <u>Dalton</u> <u>et al (2018)</u> provided information about a new digital payment system to randomlyselected restaurants and pharmacies, as well as offering them practical assistance in registering to use the system. The assistance offered included completing the registration documents and visiting the service provider to activate the account – something that would normally take a considerable amount of effort and so represents a significant cost for a small business. In a follow-up survey 16 months later, usage of the technology in the treatment group was around 7 percentage points higher than in the control group. (However, the treatment had no impact on adoption among businesses that have concerns about the visibility of their business transactions, an important constraint in a context in which many businesses are unregistered and run informally.)

Can interventions be made more effective by involving peers in the development or implementation?

Many studies have shown the benefits of establishing and utilising peer networks within business support, or basing the training material on information gathered from successful peer enterprises.

- <u>Cai and Szeidel (2018)</u> randomly selected managers of recently-established Chinese SMEs to participate in monthly meetings with their peers. The SME managers themselves organised the meetings, which usually took the form of visits to one of the businesses and in-depth discussion of business challenges. These meetings led to improved management practices, larger networks of suppliers and customers, and increased innovation and productivity. After one year, sales among participant businesses were 10% higher than in the control group.
- Dalton et al (2019) compiled a handbook of the best business practices found among small retail stores in Jakarta. Distributing the handbook alone to other retail store owners had little or no impact. In contrast, when the handbook was complemented either with a documentary video featuring successful store owners or with two short visits to help with implementing some of the best practices, significant numbers of the store owners improved their record-keeping and other business practices. However, the video alone (unlike the visits) did not clearly lead to improvements in efficiency or profitability in a follow-up survey carried out 18 months later.



- <u>Brooks et al (2018)</u> provided a randomly-selected group of young, inexperienced microenterprise owners in Kenya with one-to-one mentoring from a successful business owner from their industry who was also based in their local area. Those who received the mentoring were found to be getting local, market-specific information from their mentors, leading to an increase in profits of 20% on average, over a 17-month period. (In contrast, similar microenterprise owners who were allocated to a conventional business training programme did not increase their profits as a result.) However, the benefits from mentoring were found to fade away after the mentoring relationships dissolved.
- <u>Roche et al (2022)</u> undertook an experiment within a co-working hub in the United States. Having randomly assigned locations they show that close proximity leads to knowledge spillovers.

Delivering training through peer groups could also be a way to reduce the cost of support compared to the cost of more tailored individual training.

• <u>lacovone et al (2021)</u> investigated whether group-based learning could be used to improve cost effectiveness when delivering consulting support to auto-parts firms in Colombia. Companies that participated in 408 hours of consulting in a group of three to eight firms were found to make improvements in management practices at a similar rate to those that were provided with 500 hours of individual consulting, but at a third of the cost. After three to four years, the companies that received group-based consulting had seen their sales, output, employment and profitability increase considerably, whereas the impacts among those that received individual consulting were smaller and less clear. It appears, then, that the value of the interactions with peers outweighed the value of receiving individualised attention from a consultant.

Interaction with peers was a key element of some of the business training programmes tested under the UK Business Basics Programme. In particular, two of the projects compared the provision of facilitated online training workshops which included a high level of peer-to-peer interaction with providing the training materials for self-study. In one case this led to a marked increase in participants' confidence in using digital technologies and in their intention to adopt these technologies (libril et al 2022); the other project also showed signs of positive impact, at least in prompting participants to complete the programme (Phipps and Fuller 2022). In neither case is it possible to isolate the impact of the peer interaction from the impact of the training workshops overall. However, in both projects qualitative feedback from the participants particularly highlighted the value of interacting with other SMEs during these sessions.



Would training on effective decision-making help SMEs determine if and how best to use digital technology?

One of the concerns regarding technology adoption is that businesses are making poor decisions based on incomplete information or false assumptions. One way to improve outcomes could be to provide training for businesses on how to make better decisions so that, in a range of contexts, are able to identify the information required and how to use it to make optimal decisions.

In a series of RCTs in Italy and the UK, <u>Camuffo et al (2021)</u> trained entrepreneurs in using a "scientific" approach to strategic decision-making. Entrepreneurs were encouraged to formulate clear theories and hypotheses about their business model and then to gather evidence to test those hypotheses, allowing them to improve the quality of their decisions and thereby the performance of their businesses. When compared to a control group that participated in a more conventional business-training program, participants were found to be more likely to make a single strategic pivot in their business model (as opposed to not pivoting or making multiple pivots) or to completely close their business. As a result, they also generated considerably greater revenue than the control group. This approach is now being tested in a further large-scale RCT, conducted across six countries (China, India, Italy, the Netherlands, Tanzania and the UK), and is also available as a free online training course.

<u>McKenzie et al (2021)</u> discuss research into the benefits of training that focuses on heuristic guidelines or rule-of-thumb decision making. However, they note that this training is only likely to be relevant to a few areas of business.

How to support digitisation and technology adoption within the agriculture sector?

<u>Alfaro-Serrano et al (2021)</u> review many examples of the adoption of technology and improved farming practices among smallholder farmers, but not at the level of agricultural SMEs. Recent years have seen increasing adoption of digital technologies by agribusinesses (eg see <u>Chege and Wang 2019</u>, <u>Barrios et al 2020</u>), but we have yet to find any experimental or quasi-experimental studies of the impacts of these technologies. Two proof-of-concept projects in the Business Basics Programme sought to promote technology adoption among agribusinesses in the UK using a combination of diagnostic surveys, vendor workshops and one-to-one advice from experts (<u>Yagro Ltd</u> 2020, <u>Food Forward Ltd 2020</u>). Despite some promising initial findings from both, robust evidence on their impacts is not available.



Is adoption held back by individual characteristics and traits that training could address?

Another way to support businesses could be to address the underlying causes that hold them back from adopting new technologies or accessing external information and support <u>(Czibor 2019c)</u>.

Businesses could be overly fearful about the risks of digital technologies, for example concerned about how to protect themselves and their customers' data. Would training on cybersecurity, as was provided through one of the Business Basics trials, help to mitigate these worries or prove counterproductive by actually heightening concerns?

Concerns have been raised that some business leaders could have a deep reluctance or fear about potential business growth or are not able to relate themselves to running a technologically advancing business. Addressing this was one of the motivating factors behind the "personal and business" support intervention that was investigated by <u>Burchell and Wallis (2021)</u> alongside a more traditional business support programme focused on technology.

Psychology-based training programmes have also looked at changing the way entrepreneurs think about their business and the development of "soft skills" that are connected with successful entrepreneurship. <u>Campos et al (2017)</u> tested the effect of psychology-based personal initiative training in Togo, and found that personal initiative training increased firm profits by 30% more than a traditional business training programme. Ubfal et al (2019a, 2019b) undertook an experiment on the impact of soft-skills training for microentrepreneurs in Jamaica. They compared the effects of two 40-hour training courses: the first focused on soft-skills, with classes on personal initiative and perseverance, while the second course combined classes on personal initiative with more traditional business practices. In contrast to Campos et al, they only find positive impacts on business outcomes in the short term. They suggest that this may indicate a need to complement the training with a longer term intervention such as mentoring. A similar intervention is currently being tested in a randomised trial with agribusinesses in Nigeria (<u>Papineni et al 2020</u>).



Reflections on policy approaches and challenges

Running experiments testing a range of approaches to fostering SME adoption has revealed a number common challenges

Over recent years, the IGL team has supported more than 40 policy experiments that involve interventions to encourage SMEs to make better use of technologies and to adopt good management practices. From this we have identified three commons challenges to project delivery:

- 1. Finding and encouraging the SMEs expected to benefit from support is often much harder than expected
- 2. Support is not used in the way that was intended, often with SMEs making limited use of what is available
- 3. Progress is made towards adoption but then is halted

For policy officials to understand whether they are likely to encounter similar issues it would be useful to consider the following questions:

- How sure are we that we can identify and reach SMEs that we have identified as needing the intervention?
- How confident are we that SMEs will take or receive the intervention?
- Do we know whether using the support will encourage adoption?
- How confident can we be that adoption does drive productivity, for who, when and why?
- How closely do the objectives and motivations of business leaders align with policy objectives such as productivity?⁹

Challenges with recruitment – having an impact depends on engaging the hard to reach

We might expect that SMEs that have the potential to gain from adopting new technologies would welcome initiatives to support them in adoption. However, in practice SMEs with low current adoption can be the least likely to put themselves forward to engage with programmes, often for similar reasons: they tend not to be connected to existing support networks, and are likely to be overloaded with day-to-day concerns.

For most of the trials that IGL has supported, recruitment has proven much more difficult than originally thought, even before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Promoting

⁹ Not all businesses can be considered as profit maximisers. Motivations can include more social and economic goals, but ambitions can also be constrained by lifestyle choices or shaped by personal experience and mindsets.



programmes in email newsletters, for example, typically generated very little interest, although there is the potential to improve impacts by applying <u>behavioural insights</u>.

The effectiveness of recruitment strategies is often highly dependent on the strength of the organisation's existing network. Organisations that have had success in recruitment have often done so through making direct, one-to-one contact with SMEs.

Recruitment can therefore become time consuming and expensive. This can be reduced by leveraging existing networks and contacts with SMEs. One particularly interesting approach was taken by Devon County Council in England, who asked their trading standards officers – officials who routinely work with SMEs in a particular local area – to visit SMEs to promote the "Engaging Rural Micros" project <u>(Burchell and Wallis 2021)</u>.

People are more likely to respond when the information and advice is tailored to their circumstances and when the benefits can be made salient. As previously discussed, whilst there are clear macroeconomic benefits of technology diffusion the benefits become much more uncertain when considered at the level of an individual business. Policymakers will rarely be able to provide guarantees about how an individual business will benefit from technology adoption but steps can nevertheless be taken to try to target those most likely to benefit and target the messages provided.

Novel data sources and methods may have the potential to help policymakers to identify potential beneficiaries in a way that isn't possible through traditional survey measures. This approach was explored through a proof-of-concept study funded through the Business Basics Programme, using a mixture of administrative data and information scraped from businesses' websites to try to motivate low productivity businesses and reach them through tailored messages <u>(Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership 2019)</u>. <u>Kneller et al (2022)</u> demonstrate an even more direct approach to identify and provide individual SMEs with information on how their technology use compares to others. <u>Kim</u> (2021) shows the benefits of providing small business owners with information on the practices of their competitors, in that instance pricing.

Once a business has expressed an interest, it may still be necessary to encourage them to sign up and take part in the programme. We have seen that lengthy registration procedures or long time delays before the programme starts have both resulted in large drops in engagement.

Challenges to design and implement support that is then used as intended

Even after having recruited businesses to an intervention, many projects have found that the level of engagement from those businesses may not meet expectations. Many SMEs



that sign up to a programme then go on to make only limited use of the support available to them.

This could be a rational response by the business as they learn more about the objectives and requirements of the support. For example, they may determine that the support will not help them to develop or that the particular technology is not appropriate for them after all. This can be the result of a lack of alignment between what the support can provide and what is required by a participant. Providers could have overestimated the knowledge and capabilities of participants – eg early-stage businesses offered recommendations where they cannot afford the significant investments required. In other cases, the recommendations can be seen as too generic and basic, with more capable businesses being likely to need more advanced and tailored information.

In these circumstances the question is whether this outcome could have been achieved more efficiently. For example, could additional information have been provided before registration, so that the business or the support provider could more quickly identify that the benefits would be limited?

However, this low uptake of support could indicate an issue with the design or implementation of support, meaning that it does not work for many of those that need it. This needs to be addressed to maximise the benefits of policy action.

Challenges with support failing to move people to the stage of competent adopters

Many projects found that having helped people they would see them become stuck at further stages along the adoption process.

In some circumstances the lack of progression can be viewed as a positive outcome: the support may have provided information that removed uncertainty, allowing the business to identify that the technology was not right for them at that point. However, these later barriers can also be caused by other factors that policy measures would ideally address – eg uncertainty about how to introduce wider changes to operations or difficulties accessing external finance to fund further investment.



Policy development and approaches

Experimental approach

Public innovation actors are responsible for the focus, design and delivery mechanisms for much of the technology adoption support programmes provided for SMEs. The many choices they make will in large part determine the economic impact of the actions. But what are the right choices? Are they making the most of each investment? Are there more effective or inclusive ways of using their funding? How would they ever know? Answering these questions is difficult.

Policymakers are being asked to address new challenges. These require imaginative solutions and encourage policymakers to become more agile and continuously search for new ideas. This was never more true than during the COVID-19 pandemic, where technology was a crucial element. New tools are being developed but are too rarely applied with the intention of learning what works – at least not in a structured and rigorous way.

Unfortunately, there is a lack of evidence to guide policy decisions. This is a longstanding issue. A review of the evidence on the effectiveness of innovation policy interventions <u>(Edler et al 2016)</u> and the UK's <u>What Works Centre for Local Economic Growth (2016)</u> both reached similar conclusions about the lack of robust evidence. Whilst full of useful insights, few evaluations provided evidence that was sufficiently robust about the causal impact of programmes to change minds.

This is not to say that we should aspire or expect all innovation policies to be evaluated in the same way. There are many relevant questions that counterfactual evaluation methods cannot answer, and many important effects that cannot be easily quantified. However, there is undoubtedly much more that can be done to rigorously measure the impact of interventions. Ultimately, a lack of this evidence leads to using scarce resources on policies that are less effective (or potentially even counter-productive). These two issues can be addressed jointly through a more experimental approach to policymaking: putting in place robust systems to learn when to scale, iterate or move on.

Policymakers are often compelled to act before they have all the answers, but by building a structured and rigorous approach into their plans they can create an evidence base to inform their decisions. Their findings can then be shared more widely, to inform the decisions of others who find themselves in a similar situation.



It can be useful to consider a <u>continuum of experimentation</u>, across which individual experiments might be focused either on exploration and discovery (understanding how the world works) or framed around evaluation (finding out what works). At the very early stages approaches like design thinking and prototyping can help improve our understanding of the barriers to be addressed and what interventions could be tried. Other methods, such as RCTS, become more prominent when making iterative improvements to design and evaluating impacts.

IGL represents this dynamic process to find, develop and test new ideas in the following diagram:



Solutions are unknown Understanding of the problem is unclear. Risk cannot be managed.

Solutions are known Understanding of the problem is clear. Risk can be managed.

RCTs represent the most robust methodology for evaluating the causal impacts of an intervention, but there are many reasons why it may not be possible to apply this approach in practice.

Firstly, not all interventions are suitable. For example, the approach requires the ability to allocate participants to different arms of a trial and to control what intervention each will receive. It would be possible to use an RCT to evaluate the impact of sending letters to businesses encouraging them to take support but this wouldn't be possible with a national media advertising campaign. Secondly, a range of analytical requirements also need to be met that can depend on the characteristics of outcome measures and the achievable sample size. Finally, there can be issues from the type of policy question that needs to be answered. RCTs are very good at answering specific questions about impact



("if we give x to these SMEs are they more likely to achieve y"), but can only contribute part of the response to broader questions such as whether business support should be the responsibility of national or local government.

Interventions best suited to test through RCTs are those in which:

- The implementing organisation is confident about how to deliver at the required scale
- Participants have been identified
- It is possible to control who receives which intervention
- There is clarity on how and why the intervention is expected to work (enabling them to develop a logic model for the intervention)
- It is clear which outcomes are expected
- Understanding of context
- Impacts are expected within a reasonable time frame

Whether it will then be possible and valuable to run an RCT depends on a number of factors including:

- The total number of (eligible) participants (the sample)
- Whether participants can be recruited
- Whether participants can be randomised into groups
- Whether data can be collected on the outcomes of interest
- Whether the minimum effect that the evaluation will be able to detect is large enough to be of consequence for policy decisions

A more detailed discussion of different methodologies for running experiments can be found in Nesta's "Experimenter's Inventory" (<u>Hopkins et al 2020</u>).

Design approach and segmentation

Using <u>design principles</u> could help to develop effective policies, in particular the importance of thoroughly understanding the problem and who the end beneficiaries will be.

Why is it important to understand user needs?

- Go beyond anecdotal evidence and "gut feelings"
- Problems vs symptoms
- Services designed around users and their needs:
 - are more likely to be used
 - help more people get the right outcome for them



- cost less to operate by reducing time and money spent on resolving problems
- Improves team composition

Things to ask yourself when thinking about your users:

- Who are your users and what are they trying to do?
- How are they currently tackling that need (for example, what services or channels are they using)?
- What are the problems or frustrations they experience?
- What do users need from your service to achieve their goal?

Some tools for gathering data on user needs:

- Reviewing existing evidence
- Observing actual behaviour
- Speaking to people who interact directly with your users

Examples:

As part of the Business Basics Programme, the UK's Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) commissioned research involving 40 in-depth interviews with SMEs, to better understand barriers and enablers to adopting best practice and to develop typologies to inform communications with SMEs. Five "typologies" of business were established, based on their openness to innovation and how long they have been in the role (BEIS 2019).

For the Australian <u>Small Business Digital Taskforce (2018)</u>, user research was undertaken leading to the creation of eight "personas" to represent groups of small business decision-makers with similar characteristics and experiences related to adopting digital technologies. These were used to inform policy development, for example looking at what stage of the adoption process each persona was most likely to halt progress.



Annex A: Summary of Studies

Evidence reviews

Review	Covers	Findings
Alfaro-Serrano et al (2021) "Interventions to promote technology adoption in firms: A systematic review"	Experimental and quasi-experimental studies of the effects of interventions promoting technology adoption. Broad definition of 'technology': relationship between inputs and outputs. Covers all countries and all firm sizes (including microenterprises/indivi duals).	Positive effect on technology adoption from a range of interventions, including direct financial support or providing the technology free of charge, or providing training or consulting. But more than 40% of the studies had null results. Recommended that "policymakers should pay attention to how programmes can be improved and better tailored to particular environments, to achieve better outcomes".
McKenzie et al (2021) " <u>Training</u> <u>entrepreneurs</u> "	Experimental studies of the effects of entrepreneurship training interventions. Covers all lower and middle-income countries and all firm sizes.	Classroom-based training remains the most popular method and meta-analysis shows modestly positive effects. More recent innovations in training approaches also show promise, such as personal initiative training. Individual consulting has positive effects but is expensive. Important to have matched training provision with the right type of enterprise. There are several seemingly promising approaches where current evidence is limited.
Wu and Broughton (2019) " <u>Business</u> <u>Basics: Nudging firms</u>	A rapid literature review into the behavioural factors	Behavioural factors can affect a business's decisions through four stages of adoption -



<u>to improve</u> productivity"	that can cause slow adoption of proven technologies and management practices and how to utilise behavioural insights and enables to nudge firms to take action	recognising a need, identifying options, deciding on one, and acting to adopt. Most is known about how to frame messages to prompt action with much less known about how to optimise other aspects such as mode and messenger. With little research to connect changes to adoption and productivity.
What Works Centre for Local Economic Growth (2016) " <u>Evidence review:</u> <u>business advice</u> "	This evidence review looks at the effectiveness of interventions to provide SMEs with access to external advice. They reviewed evidence from across the OECD.	Finding only 23 robust impact evaluations from a sample of almost 700. 14 found positive programme impacts on at least one business outcome, 4 had mixed results and for 5 found no statistically significant impacts. Given the lack of studies across a broad topic area and mixed results, it was deemed difficult to reach any firm conclusions about relative effectiveness of different approaches.
Owalla et al (2021) " <u>Mapping SME</u> <u>productivity research:</u> <u>a systematic review</u> <u>of empirical evidence</u> <u>and future research</u> <u>agenda</u> "	Observational studies of factors affecting productivity in SMEs. Covers Western Europe, the US, Canada, Australia and New Zealand only.	Observations about technology adoption: - Digital technology is identified as a driver of productivity in several recent studies. - Importance of complementary assets and/or organisation change to reap benefits of a technology. - Participating in networks/alliances/collaboratio ns is associated with tech adoption.



UK policy experimentation: Business Basics Programme

Figure: An illustration of the range of interventions covered by projects funded through the UK's Business Basics Programme



A brief summary of each of the interventions tested under and a link to the evaluation reports (where available) are given in the tables below. A summary of the key findings from the Business Basics Programme is available on the IGL website (Phipps & Fuller, 2022). The final report of the Business Basics Programme is to be published in 2023.

Full-scale randomised trials

Project name	Lead organisation	Intervention	Report
Business Boost	Cavendish Enterprise	Business training programme with peer-to-peer interaction and follow-up mentoring	<u>Roper et al (2020)</u>



Project name	Lead organisation	Intervention	Report
HeadsUp!	Enterprise Nation	Training on specific digital tools, delivered one-to-one online or at workshops	Publication pending
Scientific entrepreneurship training	City, University of London		
Al for SMEs	Greater London Authority	Information sessions on AI tools, one-to-one technical advice and a subsidy for adoption	Publication pending
People Skills+	Chartered Institute for Personnel and Development	One-to-one consulting on human resources and people management	Publication pending
Cyber Well	Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council	Self-guided online training programme on cyber security	Publication pending
Leading to Grow	Chartered Association of Business Schools	Mentoring and advice from experienced entrepreneurs, during COVID-19 pandemic	Publication pending
Developing management system to boost productivity	Cambridge Judge Business School	Self-guided online business training programme, with peer- to-peer interaction and mentoring	Publication pending
Engaging Rural Micros	Devon County Council	One-to-one mentoring, technical advice on digital adoption and a subsidy for digital adoption	<u>Burchell and Wallis</u> (2021)
Operational Coaching	Notion Ltd	Self-guided online training programme on using coaching behaviours in the workplace	<u>Tinelli & Ashley-Timms</u> (2022)
Making Accountants Digital Enablers	Northumbria University	Training accountants to support to SME clients in digital adoption	Publication pending
Be the Business Digital	Be the Business	Website with information on digital adoption, support from bank staff in using it	Publication pending
Manufacturing Connect Lancashire	Edge Hill University	Training on technology adoption in manufacturing, with peer-to- peer interaction	Publication pending
Evolve Digital	Business West	Training programme on digital adoption, with peer-to-peer interaction and design sprints	<u>libril et al (2022)</u>



Project name	Lead organisation	Intervention	Report
Techknowledgey Transfer	Petroc	Support on technology adoption from further education students	Publication pending
Adoption of Digitally Automated Accounting and Payment Technologies (ADAPT)	Cheshire East Council	Online exposure events with a provider of digital payment technologies	Publication pending
Evolution Invoice	Evolution Al	Behavioural nudges towards adoption of invoice processing software	Publication pending

Pilots/proof of concept projects

Project name	Lead organisation	Intervention	Report
Local Productivity Club	WLP	Business training programme with peer-to-peer interaction and follow-up mentoring	<u>Palmer et al (2019)</u>
Digitally Enabled Business Clinic	Northumbria University	Consulting from teams of university students	<u>Coates and Cottam</u> (2019)
Cloud Accounting	Locality	One-to-one support in adoption of digital accounting systems for voluntary sector organisations	<u>Jones (2019)</u>
Dairy Forward	Food Forward Ltd	Information on the business's efficiency in resource use, and about technologies that could improve this	<u>Food Forward Ltd</u> (2020)
Productivity in Professional Services	Career Innovation Company Ltd	Self-guided online career coaching programme for employees of professional services firms	<u>Lucy et al (2019)</u>
Data-led approach to improving productivity via tailored messaging	West Yorkshire Combined Authority / Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership	Using big data to identify low-productivity SMEs and target them with offer of support	<u>Leeds City Region</u> <u>Enterprise Partnership</u> (2019)
Technology Foresight	Kingston University	Technology foresight process	<u>Vecchiato et al (2020)</u>
Digital Breakthrough South East	EDGE Digital Manufacturing Ltd	Technology benchmarking process	EDGE Digital Manufacturing Ltd (2021)
Developing performance	Leeds Beckett University	Programme of training on performance management,	Publication pending



Project name	Lead organisation	Intervention	Report
management capability		including peer-to-peer interaction and one-to-one support	
Lifestyle behaviour change interventions for employee health and SME productivity	Sheffield Hallam University	Health and wellbeing assessment for employees	Publication pending
ldeact	Tenshi Consulting	Programme of training on design thinking, including peer-to-peer interaction and one-to-one support	<u>Tenshi Consulting Ltd</u> (<u>n.d.)</u>
Digital Benchmark Index	Winning Moves Ltd	Looking at the impact of a Digital Benchmark Index as a way to motivate SMEs to adopt digital technologies	Publication pending
Tech Check	Yagro Ltd	Technology diagnostic, informational workshops and one-to-one advice for agricultural SMEs	<u>Yagro Ltd (2020)</u>



Bibliography

Adams, L., Davies, B., Barnes, M., Stewart, G., Duncan, B., & Pearson, A. (2016). Growth Vouchers Programme evaluation: cohort 1, effect at 6 months (BIS research paper 259). Department for Business, Innovation and Skills.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/growth-vouchers-programme-evaluation-cohort-1-effect-at-6-months

- Alfaro-Serrano, D., Balantrapu, T., Chaurey, R., Goicoechea, A., & Verhoogen, E. (2021). Interventions to promote technology adoption in firms: A systematic review. Campbell Systematic Reviews, 17(4), e1181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1181</u>
- Anderson, S. J., Iacovone, L., Kankanhalli, S., & Narayanan, S. (2021). Modernizing retailers in an emerging market: Investigating externally-focused and internally-focused approaches (SSRN scholarly paper 3685514). Social Science Research Network. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3685514</u>
- Anderson, S. J., & McKenzie, D. (2021). Improving business practices and the boundary of the entrepreneur: A randomized experiment comparing training, consulting, insourcing, and outsourcing. Journal of Political Economy. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/717044</u>
- Apedo-Amah, M. C., Coville, A., Piza, C., Raja, S., & Scarpari, R. (2020). Promoting e-commerce in Georgia: Exploring constraints to online participation using baseline data from an Experimental Study. World Bank. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10986/34226</u>

Azzolini, D. (2021). 200SMEchallenge: D4.4 Evaluation of scheme impact through RCT. Fondazione Bruno Kessler.

https://www.200smechallenge.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/200SMEchallenge_D4.4-Evalu ation-of-scheme-impact-through-RCT_v2.1.pdf

- Barrios, D., Restrepo-Escobar, F. J., & Cerón-Muñoz, M. (2020). Factors associated with the technology adoption in dairy agribusiness. Revista Facultad Nacional de Agronomía Medellín, 73(2), 9221–9226. <u>https://doi.org/10.15446/rfnam.v73n2.82169</u>
- Be the Business. (2020). The UK's Technology Moment why 2020 can be the year that changed our trajectory. <u>https://media.bethebusiness.com/documents/The-UKs-Technology-Moment1.pdf</u>
- Blind, K. (2013). The impact of standardization and standards on innovation (Nesta working paper 13/15). Nesta.

https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-impact-of-standardization-and-standards-on-innovation/

- Bloom, N., Mahajan, A., McKenzie, D., & Roberts, J. (2020). Do management interventions last? Evidence from India. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 12(2), 198–219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20180369</u>
- Breinlich, H., Donaldson, D., Nolen, P. J., & Wright, G. C. (2017). Information, perceptions and exporting Evidence from a randomized controlled trial (Working paper). http://repository.essex.ac.uk/16005/
- Brooks, W., Donovan, K., & Johnson, T. R. (2018). Mentors or teachers? Microenterprise training in Kenya. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 10(4), 196–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20170042</u>
- Broughton, N., Costa, E., Pickering, J., Shakhina, N., Tilleard, R., & Wu, H. (2019). Boosting businesses: applying behavioural insights to business policy. Behavioural Insights Team. <u>https://www.bi.team/publications/boosting-businesses-applying-behavioural-insights-to-busin</u> <u>ess-policy/</u>



- Bruhn, M., Karlan, D., & Schoar, A. (2018). The impact of consulting services on small and medium enterprises: Evidence from a randomized trial in Mexico. *Journal of Political Economy*, 126(2), 635–687. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/696154</u>
- Burchell, K., & Wallis, L. (2021). Engaging Rural Micros trial: Final evaluation report. Plymouth Marjon University.

https://www.devon.gov.uk/economy/business-support/engaging-rural-micros/

- Campos, F., Frese, M., Goldstein, M., Iacovone, L., Johnson, H., McKenzie, D., & Mensmann, M. (2017). Teaching personal initiative beats traditional training in boosting small business in West Africa. Science. 357(6357), 1287–1290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan5329</u>
- Camuffo, A., Gambardella, A., Messinese, D., Novelli, E., Paolucci, E., & Spina, C. (2021). A scientific approach to innovation management: Evidence from four field experiments (Centre for Economic Policy Research discussion paper DP15972). Social Science Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3816857
- Chege, S. M., & Wang, D. (2020). The impact of technology transfer on agribusiness performance in Kenya. Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 32(3), 332–348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2019.1657568</u>
- Chudnovsky, D., López, A., Rossi, M., & Ubfal, D. (2006). Evaluating a program of public funding of private innovation activities: An econometric study of FONTAR in Argentina (Working Paper OVE/WP-16/06). Inter-American Development Bank. <u>https://publications.iadb.org/en/evaluating-program-public-funding-private-innovation-activitie</u> <u>s-econometric-study-fontar-argentina</u>
- Ciera, X., Comin, ., Cruz, M., Lee, K. M., & Soares Martins-Neto, A. (2021). Firm-level technology adoption in the state of Ceará in Brazil (Policy research working paper). World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-9568</u>
- Coates, N., & Cottam, E. (2019). The Digitally Enabled Business Clinic: Final report. Northumbria University.

https://northumbria-cdn.azureedge.net/-/media/corporate-website/new-sitecore-gallery/busines s/documents/pdf/19,-d-,11,-d-,19-debc-final-report.pdf?modified=20200214133754

- Coville, A., Osman, A., & Piza, C. (2019). Promoting e-commerce in Georgia. World Bank. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/competitiveness-policy-impact-evaluation-lab/brief/georgia---broadband-for-development</u>
- Czibor, E. (2019a). Business mentoring How strong is the evidence? Innovation Growth Lab. https://innovationgrowthlab.org/blog/business-mentoring-how-strong-evidence
- Czibor, E. (2019b). Business mentoring The devil is in the details. Innovation Growth Lab. https://innovationgrowthlab.org/blog/business-mentoring-devil-details
- Czibor, E. (2019c). What has experimentation taught us about tech adoption? Innovation Growth Lab.

https://www.innovationgrowthlab.org/blog/what-has-experimentation-taught-us-about-tech-a doption

Dalton, P., Pamuk, H., van Soest, D., Ramrattan, R., & Uras, B. (2018). Payment technology adoption by small and medium businesses: Experimental evidence from mobile money in Kenya (Working paper). Tilburg University.

https://www.gov.uk/research-for-development-outputs/payment-technology-adoption-by-small -and-medium-businesses-experimental-evidence-from-mobile-money-in-kenya



Dalton, P. S., Ruschenpohler, J., Uras, B., & Zia, B. (2019). Learning to grow from peers:
Experimental evidence from small retailers in Indonesia (Working paper).
https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-8933
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy. (2019). Business Basics: Attitudes to
adoption: Understanding the barriers and enablers to the adoption of best practice
technologies and management practices by small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs). BEIS
research report number 2019/018.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/small-and-medium-sized-business-sme-attitudes
-towards-adopting-best-practice
DeStefano, T., Kneller, R., & Timmis, J. (2018). Broadband infrastructure, ICT use and firm
performance: Evidence for UK firms. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 155,
110–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2018.08.020</u>
DeStefano, T., Kneller, R., & Timmis, J. (2019). The digital divide: Universal broadband access and
firm performance.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/0Bz-vDbz745L3Uml6MXFMVUhXMk5KWHJMczVTbGl3WFhXelV N/view?resourcekey=0-ixoilKGHWqpQkDOpM2DE2A

- EDGE Digital Manufacturing Limited. (2021). Evaluation of the Digital Breakthrough South East proof-of-concept project. <u>https://www.edge-digital.co.uk/digitalbreakthrough</u>
- Edler, J., Shapira, P., Cunningham, P., & Gök, A. (2016). Conclusions: Evidence on the effectiveness of innovation policy intervention. In Edler, J., Cunningham, P., Gök, A., & Shapira, P. (Eds.), Handbook of Innovation Policy Impact (pp. 543–564) Edward Elgar Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784711856.00025</u>
- Fabling, R., & Grimes, A. (2021). Picking up speed: Does ultrafast broadband increase firm productivity? Information Economics and Policy, 57, 100937. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoecopol.2021.100937</u>
- Food Forward Ltd. (2020). Dairy Forward resource productivity platform: Proof of concept final report.

https://foodfw.com/Innovators/GetPdf?filename=200225-DairyForwardPhase1Report-final.pdf

- Higgins, S. (2020). Financial technology adoption (Working paper). <u>https://seankhiggins.com/assets/pdf/higgins_imp.pdf</u>
- Hopkins, A., Breckon, J., & Lawrence, J. (2020). The experimenter's inventory: A catalogue of experiments for decision-makers and professionals. Nesta. <u>https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/experimenters-inventory/</u>
- Iacovone, L., Maloney, W., & McKenzie, D. (2021). Improving management with individual and group-based consulting: Results from a randomized experiment in Colombia. The Review of Economic Studies, 89(1), 346–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/restud/rdab005</u>
- Jibril, H., Mensmann, M., Roper, S., & Scott, D. (2022). Evaluation of the Evolve Digital programme to promote digital adoption in family firms: A randomised control trial. Enterprise Research Centre.

https://www.enterpriseresearch.ac.uk/publications/evaluation-of-the-evolve-digital-programme _to-promote-digital-adoption-in-family-firms-a-randomised-control-trial/

Jin, Y., & Sun, Z. (2021). Lifting growth barriers for new firms: Evidence from an entrepreneur training experiment with two million online businesses (Working paper). https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/zsun/files/sun_jmp.pdf



- Jones, P. (2019). Cloud Accounting proof of concept pilot. Locality. <u>https://locality.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Cloud_Accounting_Proof_of_Concept_-_Eval</u> <u>uation_Summary_Report_v3_Final.pdf</u>
- Kim H. (2021). The value of competitor information: Evidence from a field experiment. <u>https://papers.kimhyunjin.com/Kim_CompetitorInfo.pdf</u>
- Kneller, R., Li, C., & Adem, A. (2022). Looking beyond digital adoption: A new business support experiment to open the window to a company's digital soul. Innovation Growth Lab. <u>https://www.innovationgrowthlab.org/blog/looking-beyond-digital-adoption-new-business-sup</u> <u>port-experiment-open-window-company%E2%80%99s-digital</u>
- Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership. (2019). Business Basics data-led approach to improving productivity via tailored messaging: Evaluation report. https://www.the-lep.com/media/3512/leeds-city-region-business-basics-evaluation-report.pdf
- Lucy, D., Hey, L., & Hirsh, W. (2019). Productivity in Professional Services (PiPS) proof of concept: Evaluating the potential impact of online career development support on productivity in SMEs. Institute for Employment Studies. <u>https://www.employment-studies.co.uk/system/files/resources/files/Productivity%20in%20Profes</u>
- <u>sional%20Services%20%28PiPS%29%20Proof%20of%20Concept.pdf</u> Maffioli, A., McKenzie, D., & Ubfal, D. (2019). The impact of price on the provision of business
- training in Jamaica. Innovation Growth Lab.
 - https://www.innovationgrowthlab.org/blog/impact-price-provision-business-training-jamaica
- Maffioli, A., McKenzie, D., & Ubfal, D. (2020). Estimating the demand for business training: Evidence from Jamaica (Policy research working paper 9415). World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-9415</u>
- McKenzie, D., Woodruff, C., Bjorvatn, K., Bruhn, M., Cai, J., Gonzalez-Uribe, J., Quinn, S., Sonobe, T., & Valdivia, M. (2021). Training entrepreneurs. VoxDevLit, 1(2). <u>https://voxdev.org/sites/default/files/Training_Entrepreneurs_Issue_2.pdf</u>
- Novelli, E., & Spina, C. (2021). When do entrepreneurs benefit from acting like scientists? A field experiment in the UK (INSEAD Working Paper No. 2022/27/EFE). Social Science Research Network. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3894831</u>
- Owalla, B., Gherhes, C., Vorley, T., & Brooks, C. (2021). Mapping SME productivity research: a systematic review of empirical evidence and future research agenda. Small Business Economics, 58, 1285–1307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-021-00450-3</u>
- Palmer, S., Garwell, R., & Youngs, S. (2019). Local Productivity Club. WLP. https://w-l-p.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Local-Productivity-Club-Final-Report-v3.1-Fin al-Issued.pdf
- Papineni, S., Delavallade, C., Fashogbon, A., & Das, S. (2020). Economic impact of different socioemotional skills on agribusiness in Nigeria. American Economics Association RCT registry. https://doi.org/10.1257/rct.6134-2.0
- Phipps, J. & Fuller, R. (2022). Four years of the UK's Business Basics Programme what have we learned? Innovation Growth Lab. <u>https://www.innovationgrowthlab.org/blog/four-years-uk%E2%80%99s-business-basics-programme-%E2%80%93-what-have-we-learned</u>
- Piza, C., & Bruhn, M. (2019). Promoting better business practices and growth in small firms (Conference presentation).

https://www.innovationgrowthlab.org/sites/default/files/Caio%20Piza%20IGL2019-min.pdf



- Riom, C., Valero, A., & Oliveira-Cunha, C. (2022). Lessons on designing tech RCTs with SMEs. Innovation Growth Lab. <u>https://innovationgrowthlab.org/blog/lessons-designing-tech-rcts-smes</u>
- Roche, M. P., Oettl, A., & Catalini, C. (2022). (Co-)Working in close proximity: Knowledge spillovers and social interactions (Working paper 30120). National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w30120</u>
- Rogers, E. M. (1995). Diffusion of innovations: Modifications of a model for telecommunications. In
 M.-W. Stoetzer & A. Mahler (Eds.), Die Diffusion von Innovationen in der Telekommunikation (pp. 25–38). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-79868-9_2</u>
- Roper, S., Jibril, H., Scott, D., & Drummond, I. (2020). Evaluation of the Cavendish Enterprise 'Business Boost' project. Enterprise Research Centre. <u>https://www.enterpriseresearch.ac.uk/publications/evaluation-of-the-cavendish-enterprise-business-boost-project/</u>
- Ruiz, C., & McKenzie, D. (2017). How big data helped us estimate the impact of an intervention with 0.8% take-up. World Bank. <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/impactevaluations/how-big-data-helped-us-estimate-impact-inter</u> vention-08-take
- Small Business Digital Taskforce. (2018). Report to government. Australian Government. <u>https://www.industry.gov.au/sites/default/files/small_business_digital_taskforce_-_report_to_gov</u> <u>ernment.pdf</u>
- Tan, H. (2009). Evaluating SME support programs in Chile using panel firm data (Working paper). World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-5082</u>
- Tenshi Consulting Ltd. (n.d.). The effects of design thinking training on small and medium-sized enterprises. <u>https://tenshi.co.uk/long-reads/</u>
- Theodorakopoulos, N., Hart, M., Burke, G., Stefan, U., Braidford, P., Allinson, G., Houston, M., & Jones, S. (2015). Sociology of enterprise (BIS research paper 238). Department of Business, Innovation and Skills.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/small-business-owners-dispositions-towards-gro wth

- Tinelli, M., & Ashley-Timms, D. (2022). Adopting 'Operational Coaching' as a management style to drive SME productivity. Highlights Report. Notion Limited. https://starmanager.global/igl-bb-results/
- Ubfal, D., Arraiz, I., Beuermann, D., Frese, M., Maffioli, A., & Verch, D. (2019a). The impact of soft-skills training for entrepreneurs in Jamaica. (IZA discussion paper 12325). Social Science Research Network. https://srn.com/abstract=3390314
- Ubfal, D., Arraiz, I., Beuermann, D., Frese, M., Maffioli, A., & Verch, D. (2019b). The impact of soft-skills training for micro-entrepreneurs in Jamaica (part two). Innovation Growth Lab. <u>https://www.innovationgrowthlab.org/blog/impact-soft-skills-training-microentrepreneurs-jama</u> <u>ica-part-two</u>
- Vecchiato, R., Do, H., Blackburn, R., & Pierrakis, Y. (2020). Technology foresight for growth and productivity: the design and implementation of a new foresight approach for UK SMEs. Kingston University. <u>https://eprints.kingston.ac.uk/id/eprint/44467/</u>
- Verhoogen, E. (2021). Firm-level upgrading in developing countries (Working paper 29461). National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w29461</u>
- What Works Centre for Local Economic Growth. (2016). Evidence review 2: Business advice. <u>https://whatworksgrowth.org/resource-library/business-advice/</u>



- Wu, H., & Broughton, N. (2019). Nudging firms to improve productivity: rapid literature review.
 Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy.
 <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nudging-firms-to-improve-productivity-rapid-liter</u>
 <u>ature-review</u>
- Yagro Ltd. (2020). An evaluation of: Accelerating the Adoption of Productivity Systems for Farming Businesses.

https://d8gomawsp5exo.cloudfront.net/cms-demo_yag_ro-media/filer_public/ec/c1/ecc1232a-2 288-42aa-abdf-973a331c41a0/accelerating_the_adoption_of_productivity_systems_for_farmin g_businesses.pdf